2005

Utah v. Rich : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

The State of Utah appeals from an order dismissing a charge of aggravated robbery, a third degree felony, in violation of Utah Code Ann. § 76-10-504 (West 2004), for failure to bring the case to trial within 120 days, as required by Utah Code Ann. § 77-29-1 (West 2004), in the Fourth Judicial District Court in Utah County, State of Utah, the Honorable Stephen L. Hansen presiding. This Court has jurisdiction pursuant to Utah Code Ann. § 78-2a-3(2)(j) (West 2004).

ISSUES PRESENTED ON APPEAL AND STANDARDS OF REVIEW

Issue 1: Did the trial court err in dismissing an aggravated robbery charge against defendant based on a violation of his statutory speedy trial right when defendant had invoked the speedy trial statute only as to a different charge?

Standard of Review: This claim involves interpretation of a statute and, thus, presents a question of law reviewed for correctness. *State v. Maestas*, 2000 UT App 22, ¶11, 997 P.2d 314, *cert. denied*, 4 P.3d 1289 (Utah 2000).

This issue was preserved at R. 52-55; R. 82:51-55, 59-60.

Issue 2: Alternatively, did the trial court abuse its discretion in determining there was not “good cause” to allow prosecution of the defendant for aggravated robbery to continue even though the charge was not tried within 120 days?

Standard of Review: The Court of Appeals reviews a trial court's determination that defendant's charges should be dismissed pursuant to the speedy trial statute for abuse of discretion. *State v. Houston*, 2003 UT App 416, ¶ 7, 82 P.3d 219.

This issue was preserved at R. 50-52; R. 82:55.

CONSTITUTIONAL PROVISIONS, STATUTES, AND RULES

The following statute is central to this appeal and reproduced in full:

(1) Whenever a prisoner is serving a term of imprisonment in the state prison, jail or other penal or correctional institution of this state, and there is pending against the prisoner in this state any untried indictment or information, and the prisoner shall deliver to the warden, sheriff or custodial officer in authority, or any appropriate agent of the same, a written demand specifying the nature of the charge and the court wherein it is pending and requesting disposition of the pending charge, he shall be entitled to have the charge brought to trial within 120 days of the date of delivery of written notice.

(2) Any warden, sheriff or custodial officer, upon receipt of the demand described in Subsection (1), shall immediately cause the demand to be forwarded by personal delivery or certified mail, return receipt requested, to the appropriate prosecuting attorney and court clerk. The warden, sheriff or custodial officer shall, upon request of the prosecuting attorney so notified,

provide the attorney with such information concerning the term of commitment of the demanding prisoner as shall be requested.

(3) After written demand is delivered as required in Subsection (1), the prosecuting attorney or the defendant or his counsel, for good cause shown in open court, with the prisoner or his counsel being present, may be granted any reasonable continuance.

(4) In the event the charge is not brought to trial within 120 days, or within such continuance as has been granted, and defendant or his counsel moves to dismiss the action, the court shall review the proceeding. If the court finds that the failure of the prosecuting attorney to have the matter heard within the time required is not supported by good cause, whether a previous motion for continuance was made or not, the court shall order the matter dismissed with prejudice.

Utah Code Ann. § 77-29-1 (West 2004).

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On November 18, 2003, defendant was charged by information with aggravated robbery or, in the alternative, robbery in the Fourth Judicial District Court. R. 1-2.

Sometime in March 2004, defendant, an inmate at the Utah State Prison, prepared a document captioned “Notice and Request for Disposition of Pending Charge(s),” *see* R. 81, State’s Exhibit 3 (“Disposition Request”), attached as Addendum A, and presented it to prison officials. R. 81, 82. The Disposition Request demands that untried charges of “theft/probation violation” in case number 021400580 be tried within 120 days as provided by Utah law. *Id.* When the aggravated robbery charge in this case, number 031404393, had not been tried within 120 days, the defendant filed a motion to dismiss. R. 27.

On January 10, 2005, Judge Steven L. Hansen, Fourth Judicial District Court, granted the motion to dismiss. *See* Memorandum Decision, R. 65-69, attached as Addendum B . A final order dismissing the charge was entered on March 3, 2005. R. 73.

On March 17, 2005, the State filed a timely notice of appeal. R. 75.

By order dated April 12, 2005, the Utah Supreme Court transferred the case to this Court for disposition. R. 80.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Relevant criminal history

Defendant's recent criminal history includes the following:

Case no. 021400580. On May 8, 2002, defendant was convicted of theft in the Fourth Judicial District Court and later sentenced to jail time and probation ("the 2002 theft case"). R. 69.

Case no. 031500223. Defendant was convicted of forgery in Third District Court and on January 27, 2004, he was sentenced to serve zero to five years at the Utah State Prison. R. 69.

Case no. 031404393. On November 18, 2003, defendant was charged with aggravated robbery in Fourth Judicial District Court in connection with a November 5, 2003, incident in which defendant and a co-defendant attempted to take merchandise from a Walmart store (hereinafter "the aggravated robbery case" or "the aggravated robbery charge"). R. 1-2; 82:32-34. During the incident, defendant allegedly assaulted an employee who was chasing him, breaking the employee's arm in five different places. R. 82:34.

As a result of the aggravated robbery charge, defendant was also apparently charged with violating the terms of probation imposed in connection with the 2002 theft case. R. 82:43.

“ . . . [T]he nature of the charge. . . ”¹

On March 4, 2004, defendant prepared the paperwork for his Disposition Request, indicating that he had charges of “theft/probation violation” pending against him in the Fourth Judicial District Court and that Utah County was the prosecuting entity. R. 81, State’s Exhibit 3. He also filled out a form titled “Division of Institutional Operations Office Memorandum,” which served as a “cover sheet” directing his Disposition Request to the “DIO record unit” in Draper. R. 81, State’s Exhibit 5 (“DIO cover sheet”), attached as Addendum C. The DIO cover sheet also listed the charges as “theft/probation violation” and stated that defendant was requesting a 120-day disposition of charges of “theft/probation violation” in case number 021400580, the 2002 theft case. *Id.*

Delivered to “the warden”²

The Disposition Request and cover sheet were forwarded to Alberta Smith, a records worker at the prison, whose responsibilities include processing 120-day disposition requests and forwarding them to the prosecuting agency. R. 82:5-8. Per standard procedure, Ms.

¹ Utah Code Ann. § 77-29-1(1) (West 2004) (defendant who desires to have criminal charges tried within 120 days shall prepare “a written demand specifying the nature of the charge and the court wherein it is pending . . .”).

² *Id.* (“ . . . prisoner shall deliver [disposition requests] to the warden, sheriff or custodial officer in authority, or any appropriate agent of the same . . .”).

Smith prepared a letter referencing the case number provided by the defendant—case number 021400580, the 2002 theft case—informing the prosecuting entity that defendant “is requesting disposition of untried charges of Theft and Probation Violation, pending in your jurisdiction.” R. 81, State’s Exhibit 1, attached at Addendum D. Copies of the letter and the Disposition Request were sent to the Utah County Attorney’s Office and the Fourth Judicial District Court clerk in Provo.

*Forwarded to the “prosecuting attorney and court clerk”*³

The Disposition Request, cover sheet and Ms. Smith’s letter reached the Utah County Attorney’s Office on March 25, 2004. *See, e.g.*, State’s Exhibit 1 (time stamp, upper right corner). Because prosecutor Tim Taylor had handled case number 021400580, the Disposition Request and related paperwork were routed to his secretary, Beth Allen. R. 82:16-18.

Per standard procedure for Disposition Requests, Ms. Allen looked up the case number and pulled the file so it could be properly designated as one that needed to be resolved within the 120 days provided by statute. R. 82:18-19.

“I just looked to see what the status of the case was, and it showed he had been sentenced.” R. 82:19. “If the case had not been finished, I would put a sticker up on the file showing its 120-day disposition. I would have seen what the status was, seen if I needed to

³ Utah Code Ann. § 77-29-1(2) (“Any warden, sheriff or custodial officer, upon receipt of the [disposition request] . . . shall immediately cause the [request] to be forwarded . . . to the appropriate prosecuting attorney and court clerk.”).

get it back on the calendar to get it going again.” *Id.* The sticker is designed to remind the assigned attorneys “every time they open it that this is a 120-day disposition, which means they need to speed it along. I would get it on the calendar right away, make sure it’s going.” R. 82:21-22. But because the case had already been resolved, she had no reason to flag it for special attention. “In this case, it was already done so I filed it away.” R. 82:19.

Jan Barp, another secretary in the office, also testified. As the secretary who worked for Curtis Larsen, the deputy Utah County attorney who prosecuted the aggravated robbery case, Ms. Barp would have received any disposition requests with that case number or associated with that case. R. 82:29-31. However, no disposition notices or related paperwork ever crossed her desk with regard to the aggravated robbery case. R. 82:30.

The Disposition Request and Ms. Smith’s letter were also filed in the Fourth Judicial District Court on March 24, 2004. R. 81, State’s Exhibit 6. However, the Disposition Request and letter were not filed in this case, presumably because defendant provided a different case number.⁴ The court apparently forwarded additional copies of the Disposition Request and letter to the Utah County Attorney’s Office, where they were filed along with other documents associated with case number 021400580, the 2002 theft case. R. 81, State’s Exhibit 6; R 82:20-21.

⁴ The Fourth District Court docket for case number 021400580 shows that a copy of the Disposition Request was filed on March 24, 2004.

*Dismissed with prejudice*⁵

On September 21, 2004—well past the 120-day deadline—the State first became aware of the Disposition Request in open court. R. 58. Afterward, defense counsel filed a motion to dismiss and a hearing with testimony and oral argument was scheduled. R. 26, 58.

During the hearing, Orem City Police Officer Randall Clement testified that the aggravated robbery case concerned allegations that defendant and his accomplice had attempted to take merchandise from the Walmart store and fled when confronted by store employees. R. 82:34. The accomplice was charged with retail theft, but defendant was charged with aggravated robbery because he had threatened and assaulted the Walmart employee who pursued him. R. 82:36. The employee’s arm was “shattered, broken in five different places.” R. 82:34.

Defendant testified that he had initially believed he, like his co-defendant, would be charged with theft in connection with the Walmart incident. R. 82:40. According to defendant, the phrase “theft/probation violation” was intended to cover both the aggravated robbery charge and resulting probation violations in the 2002 theft case. R. 82:39. He testified that he only wrote down the case number from the 2002 theft case—case number 021400580—because he happened to have documentation containing the case number. R. 82:46. He also stated that the probation violations were resolved within 120 days. R. 82:40.

⁵ Utah Code Ann. § 77-29-1(4) (“If the court finds that the failure of the prosecuting attorney to have the matter heard within the time required is not supported by good cause . . . the court shall order the matter dismissed with prejudice.”).

Following the hearing, the trial court took the matter under advisement and later issued a Memorandum Decision granting defendant's motion to dismiss. R. 65-69. The court ruled that defendant did specify the nature of the charge he wished to have resolved. "Although the Defendant listed Theft, rather than a Robbery, theft is a lesser included offense of Robbery." R. 68. The court also stated that "it was more than reasonable for the State to assume that since the defendant was charged with a probation violation in regards to the 2002 case, based upon a theft[-]related charge that occurred in Utah County, that there would be in fact a pending criminal charge that was separate from the 2002 theft case." R. 67. The court ruled that the State had not complied with the Disposition Request and that "the State's failure to make an adequate search of all the defendant's additional case numbers and files does not constitute as [sic] 'good cause.'" *Id.*

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Point I: Defendant failed to meet his burden under Utah law to properly specify the "nature of the charge" in his Disposition Request and, thus, failed to trigger the State's duty to try the aggravated robbery charge within 120 days. Accordingly, the trial court erred in dismissing the aggravated robbery charge.

Point II: Even assuming *arguendo* that defendant's Disposition Request properly identified the nature of the charge against him, the delay in bringing the case to trial was entirely attributable to defendant. Thus, the trial court abused its discretion in failing to find "good cause" for the delay and allowing the case to continue.

ARGUMENT

I. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DISMISSING THE AGGRAVATED ROBBERY CHARGE BECAUSE DEFENDANT'S DISPOSITION REQUEST DID NOT PROPERLY NOTIFY THE STATE THAT HE WISHED TO HAVE THE CHARGE TRIED WITHIN 120 DAYS.

The trial court erred in dismissing the aggravated robbery charge against defendant because the Disposition Request cannot reasonably be read to demand resolution of that charge. Utah Code Ann. § 77-29-1(1) states that a prisoner requesting disposition of untried charges “shall deliver . . . a written demand specifying *the nature of the charge* and the court wherein it is pending . . .” *Id.* (emphasis added). Because the Disposition Request did not properly specify the nature of the charge, it is fundamentally defective and could not warrant dismissal of the pending charge.

In Utah, an incarcerated defendant may request disposition of any state charges pending against him by delivering an appropriate written notice to an agent of his custodial institution as provided in Utah Code Ann. § 77-29-1(1), which states:

Whenever a prisoner is serving a term of imprisonment in the state prison, jail or other penal or correctional institution of this state, and there is pending against the prisoner in this state any untried indictment or information, and the prisoner shall deliver to the warden, sheriff or custodial officer in authority, or any appropriate agent of the same, *a written demand specifying the nature of the charge and the court wherein it is pending and requesting disposition of the pending charge, he shall be entitled to have the charge brought to trial within 120 days of the date of delivery of written notice.*

(Emphasis added). The 120-day period may be extended by either party for good cause shown in open court, Utah Code Ann. § 77-29-1(3) & (4), or by a defendant who causes a trial to be delayed. *State v. Banner*, 717 P.2d 1325, 1329-30 (Utah 1986) (defendant's delay

of a trial constitutes a temporary waiver of his right to a speedy trial); *State v. Velasquez*, 641 P.2d 115, 116 (Utah 1982) (providing the same with respect to the 90-day disposition period under the former statute).

The Disposition Request consisted of a pre-printed form with various blanks filled in by defendant. R. 81, State's Exhibit 3, Addendum A. That notice provides:

Notice is hereby given that I, Joshua Rich, do hereby request final disposition. Charges of theft/probation violation are now pending against me in the 4th District Court, Utah County and request is hereby made that you forward this notice to the appropriate authorities together with such other information as required by law.⁶

Id. In a separate cover letter to the prison records office, defendant also stated that the case number for the charges he wished to have resolved was 021400580—his 2002 conviction for theft. R. 81, State's Exhibit 5, Addendum C.

The only description of the nature of the charges defendant sought to include in his written disposition request is the phrase “theft/probation violation.” That phrase does nothing to identify the aggravated robbery charge or state defendant's desire to have that charge promptly disposed of. Indeed, when coupled with the designation of case number 021400580—the 2002 theft case—the Disposition Request is subject to only two interpretations. First, it could simply be a mistake since there apparently were no unresolved charges associated with case number 021400580 at the time the Utah County Attorney received the request. Second, it could be interpreted as a request to have the alleged

⁶ Underlined words and phrases illustrate blanks filled in by defendant.

probation violation from case number 021400580 resolved within 120 days. This was partly what defendant intended and, in fact, the probation violation was resolved within 120 days. R. 82:40. In any event, neither possibility implicates case no. 031404393—the aggravated robbery charge in this case, which was dismissed by the district court. The fact that defendant specified a different case seems to suggest he did not care about speedy disposition of the robbery charge. Defendant’s failure to even mention the aggravated robbery charge in his written disposition request prevents application of section 77-29-1 to those charges. *See, e.g., Aranza v. State*, 444 S.E.2d 349, 350 (Ga. App. 1994) (defendant’s demand, which failed to identify the charges upon which he demanded a speedy trial by name, date, term of court, or case number, “cannot reasonably be construed as sufficient to put the authorities on notice of a defendant’s intention to invoke the extreme sanction” of dismissal; hence the time never commenced); *see also Cummins v. State*, 413 S.E.2d 773, 774 (Ga. App. 1992) (same); *Ferris v. State*, 324 S.E.2d 762, 764-65 (Ga. App. 1984) (same).⁷

In its Memorandum Decision, the trial court suggests that it was the State’s responsibility to determine which charges a defendant is seeking to have resolved under the speedy trial statute. R. 68. “The State is in the best position to determine what charges are

⁷ This Court has stated, in dicta, that the reasoning in these cases would require a decision in the State’s favor if charges dismissed under the speedy trial statute were not included in a disposition request. *State v. Coleman*, 2001 UT App 28, ¶ 5 n.5, 34 P.3d 790 (State cannot establish plain error where authority supporting its position is from other jurisdictions).

pending against the defendant in Utah County.” *Id.* It is undoubtedly true that the State is better equipped to uncover any and all charges that may be pending against a defendant. But the current statute imposes no such requirement on the State. Rather, Utah Code Ann. § 77-29-1(1) places the initial burden on the defendant to properly identify and state “the nature of the charge and the court wherein it is pending . . .” *See, e.g., State v. Heaton*, 958 P.2d 911, 915-16 (Utah 1998) (when a prisoner delivers a written notice pursuant to the statute, then the prosecutor has an affirmative duty to have the matter heard in 120 days; 120 days does not start until notice is properly delivered under the statute); *State v. Wright*, 745 P.2d 447, 450-51 (Utah 1987) (the disposition request must be properly sent to the right people and contain an appropriate demand to be effective); *State v. Viles*, 702 P.2d 1175, 1175 (Utah 1985) (the burden is on the prisoner to give proper notice before being entitled to have charges disposed of in the statutory period). If the defendant fails to meet this burden, the State has no obligation to pore over reams of documents and files in an effort to learn what charges the defendant *may* wish to have resolved in 120 days.

Nor is defendant relieved of that burden by the presumption that the prosecutor knew of the existence of the charges. *Cf. Wright*, 745 P.2d at 451 (letter from defense counsel to the county attorney inquiring about prosecution of defendant did not trigger section 77-29-1 because, among other things, the letter did not “specify the charges, as required by section 77-29-1(1).”); *Viles*, 702 P.2d at 1176 (a notice of appearance filed by defendant’s counsel, including a plea of “not guilty” and a request that defendant be granted a trial upon the

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