2005

Utah v. Rich : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Rich asserts that he adequately specified the nature of the charge as required by the disposition statute because theft is a lesser included offense of aggravated robbery. A reading of the plain language of the statute does not require Rich to list the specific name of his crime but only the nature of the charge. Moreover, Rich contends that the statute does not require him to list any case numbers in order for his case to be brought to trial.

Furthermore, because Rich properly specified the nature of the charge it was the duty of the State to bring his case to trial and hence the State did not have good cause for failing to bring his case to trial within 120 days.

Accordingly, the trial court correctly interpreted Utah Code Annotated § 77-29-1. In addition, the trial court did not abuse its discretion in concluding that the failure of the State to have this matter tried within 120 days was not excused by good cause.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE TRIAL COURT CORRECTLY INTERPRETED UTAH CODE ANNOTATED § 77-29-1 IN CONCLUDING THAT RICH HAD ADEQUATELY SPECIFIED THE NATURE OF THE CHARGE IN HIS REQUEST FOR 120-DAY DISPOSITION

The State argues that Utah Code Annotated § 77-29-1 puts the initial burden on Rich to “properly specify the nature of the charge and the court wherein it is pending” (Appellant’s Br. at 13). Therefore, the State argues that since Rich failed to properly identify the nature of the charge they did not have a duty to bring Rich’s aggravated robbery case to trial within 120 days.

Rich and the trial court disagreed with this argument and the trial court concluded that Rich specified the nature of the charge even though he “listed Theft, rather than a Robbery” (R. 68). The trial court stated that the requirement of specifying the nature of the charge was met because “theft is a lesser included offense of Robbery” (*Id.*). Moreover, the court explained that it is “reasonable to assume that most individuals who receive criminal charges are not astute in the law and therefore can not be expected to know all the differing types and degrees of thefts that one could possibly be charged with.... Or, as in this case, whether a conduct will be charged with a theft, robbery, or aggravated robbery based upon an injury or threat of injury to another person” (R. 67). The trial court further reasoned that the State is “in the best position to determine what

charges are pending against the defendant in Utah County” (R. 68). The trial court also stated that it was not the duty of the layperson to know the differentiations between theft, robbery, and aggravated robbery and, therefore, Rich satisfied the requirements of the statute by putting theft on his request for disposition. *Id.* Accordingly, the trial court concluded:

... Since a layperson is not expected to make these differentiations, it is the responsibility of the State to do more than merely check the file number provided by a defendant. The State was responsible to insure whether there were other theft related charges pending that carried a different file number.

Furthermore, Beth Allen, who is employed with the Utah County Attorney’s office, testified that she had received the 120-day disposition request sent from the prison. She testified that she looked up the case number that was provided and discovered that he had already been sentenced on the 2002 charge. This Court finds that it was more than reasonable for the State to assume that since defendant was charged with a probation violation in regards to the 2002 case, based upon a theft related charge that occurred in Utah County, that there would be in fact a pending criminal charge that was separate from the 2002 theft charge. In addition, Ms. Allen testified that she received an office reminder that when a 120-day disposition request is received by the State that all defendant’s case numbers must be examined.

Therefore, this Court finds that the State failed to comply with the 120-day disposition request. Furthermore, this Court finds that the State’s failure to make an adequate search of all the defendant’s additional case numbers and files does not constitute as “good cause”

(R. 67).

The State argues that Rich listed only one case number on his Disposition Request and when coupled with the aggravated robbery charge identified as theft, the State was left with only two possible interpretations. The first interpretation of the request could be that it was a mistake “since there apparently were no unresolved charges associated with case number 021400580 at the time the Utah County Attorney received the request” (Appellant’s Br. at 11). Secondly, it “could be interpreted as a request to have the alleged probation violation from case number 021400580 resolved within 120 days.” *Id.* at 11-12.

The State further argues that neither of these possibilities implicates the aggravated robbery charge. *Id.* According to the State “defendant’s failure to even mention the aggravated robbery charge in his written disposition request prevents application of section 77-29-1 to those charges.” In support of this proposition the State cites *Aranza v. State*, 444 S.E.2d 349 (Ga. App. 1994). In *Aranza* the Georgia Appellate Court held that when a defendant fails to “identify the charges upon which he demanded a speedy trial by name, date, term of court, or case number” the demand “‘cannot reasonably be construed as sufficient to put the authorities on notice of a defendant’s intention to invoke the extreme sanction’ of dismissal” (Appellants Br. at 12) (quoting *Aranza v. State*, 444 S.E.2d at 350).

Rich asserts that *Aranza* is distinguishable from this case for several reasons. One, the Georgia statute differs considerably from the Utah statute. Georgia’s statute, a copy of which contained in the Addenda, is applicable to basically all defendants while the Utah statute (Utah Code Annotated § 77-29-1) applies only to defendants serving a term of incarceration. Georgia’s statute also seemingly places the burden of bringing a

defendant to trial timely on the burden of the corresponding trial court while the Utah statute places the burden on the prosecuting agency.

Two, in *Aranza*, the Georgia court concluded that the copy of the speedy trial demand served upon the State failed to identify the charges by “name, date, term of court, or case number” and that therefore, it was insufficient to put the court or the State on notice “‘of a defendant’s intention to invoke the extreme sanction’ of OCGA § 17-7-170.” *Aranza*, 444 S.E.2d at 350 (quoting *Ferris v. State*, 324 S.E.2d 762 (Ga. App. 1984)).

In this case, Rich’s demand which was received by the Utah County Attorney’s office specified the Fourth District Court for a theft-related charge pending in Utah County as of March of 2005 as well as a probation violation. The case number listed corresponded to the probation violation. Rich asserts that his disposition request adequately specified the nature of the charge pending against him and adequately placed the State on notice of its statutory obligation to bring the matter to trial within the corresponding 120 days. *Cf. State v. Viles*, 702 P.2d 1175, 1176 (Utah 1985) (Notice of Appearance which contains entry of plea and request for trial is insufficient to invoke § 77-29-1 where it was not properly delivered to the warden and did not specify the nature of the charge or the appropriate court); *State v. Wright*, 745 P.2d 447, 450-51 (Utah 1987) (Letter from probation officer to county attorney making inquiry as to county’s intentions respecting prosecution of defendant was not proper invocation of 120-day disposition statute where no charges were specified and where no information was pending against defendant).

In addition, Rich asserts that the plain language of the statute supports the trial court’s conclusion that Rich adequately specified the nature of the pending charge

because theft has many variations and because theft is related to robbery as a lesser included offense (R. 68). The plain language of Utah Code Annotated § 77-29-1 only requires the nature of the charge be identified and not the specific legal name of the charge.

In *State v. McCovey*, 803 P.2d 1234, 1236 (Utah 1990), the Supreme Court of Utah stated that a lesser included offense is included when the offense is “established by proof of the same or less than all the facts required to establish the offense charged.” The Supreme Court of Utah has interpreted that to mean that where one crime cannot be committed without necessarily committing the other than the one crime is a lesser included offense of the greater crime. *Id.* In *McCovey*, the defendant was convicted of second-degree felony-murder and aggravated robbery. The Supreme Court held that these two crimes do not merge and therefore it was not double jeopardy. *Id.* at 1234. However, in this case the Supreme Court did say that “theft has been held to be a lesser included offense of aggravated robbery because theft, by its very nature, has elements that overlap aggravated robbery.” *Id.* at 1237.

Rich argues that since the plain language of the statute only requires that the defendant specify the nature of the charge and not the legal name of the crime charged; he fulfilled this requirement and, therefore, it was the duty of the State to bring the case to trial within 120-days. Moreover, Rich argues that he did specify the nature of the charge because the Supreme Court has stated that “theft, by its very nature, has elements that overlap aggravated robbery,” therefore, meaning that theft and aggravated robbery are very similar in nature. This, Rich contends, proves that he met the statutory requirement because he listed the nature of the charge and the Supreme Court of Utah has held that these two crimes are similar in nature.

As to the two interpretations advocated by the State, Rich contends that there is third—more plausible—interpretation which is supported by the trial court’s decision and the testimony of Beth Allen, a secretary in the Utah County Attorney’s office. This third interpretation is that Rich listed two different charges requesting disposition and that he listed the only case number available to him. According to Allen, she understood “theft/probation violation” as meaning “theft” and “probation violation” (R. 82: 24). Furthermore, Allen also testified that she was sent a reminder that when a 120-day disposition request is received, they are to look up all the case numbers (R. 82: 24-25). When Rich’s attorney asked why this was Ms. Allen stated that it was because “sometimes, like this case, they don’t list all the case numbers and we need to make sure that they’re all taken care of” (R. 82: 25).

In its memorandum decision, the trial court stated that it was the “responsibility of the State to do more than merely check the file number provided by a defendant. The State was responsible to insure whether there were other theft related charges pending that carried a different file number” (R. 67). The State concedes that the “State is better equipped to uncover any and all charges that may be pending against a defendant” (Appellant’s Br. at 13). However, the State argues that the “current statute imposes no such requirement on the State” and the statute places the initial burden on the defendant to properly identify the nature of the charge. *Id.* at 13.

Rich contends that since he properly identified the nature of the charge, the burden shifted to the State to bring Rich’s untried charge to disposition within 120 days from the time of delivery. In *State v. Heaton*, 958 P.2d 911, 912 (Utah 1998), the defendant appealed a conviction of aggravated robbery and evading arrest. Heaton argued that the trial court erred in failing to dismiss his case due to noncompliance of

the detainer statute. *Id.* at 914. The Supreme Court of Utah stated that “this court has consistently held that the language of the detainer statute clearly places the burden of complying with the statute on the prosecutor.” *Id.* Furthermore, in *Heaton*, the Court referred to the *Petersen* case where the defendant did not object to a trial date outside the 120-day period. The Utah Supreme Court concluded that the defendant’s failure to object to the trial date was irrelevant because the “burden of bringing the case to trial within the disposition period rested solely with the prosecution.” *Id.* The Court further declared that in *Heaton*, the lower court “clearly erred in concluding that Heaton was in the same position as was the State and therefore shared some of the responsibility to find out why his case had not been sent to trial.” *Id.*

Rich argues that, like Heaton, he was not in the same position as the State. Rich contends that he was never told he was charged with aggravated robbery and his case number was not available to him. Therefore, he did the best he could have done by specifying the nature of the charge as theft, which is the offense for which the co-defendant had been charged. The State had the ability—and the statutory responsibility—to discover the pending aggravated robbery charge, which is related to theft, but failed to take any steps to do so.

Accordingly, Rich asserts that the trial court properly interpreted the plain language of Utah Code Annotated § 77-29-1 as requiring that only the nature of the charge need be specified; and that Rich’s demand which listed “theft” adequately met this statutory requirement. Because Rich’s disposition request was not deficient, the trial court correctly dismissed the charge for failure by the State to have the matter tried within 120 days.

POINT II

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION IN CONCLUDING THAT THE STATE'S FAILURE TO BRING THIS MATTER TO TRIAL WITHIN 120 DAYS WAS NOT SUPPORTED BY GOOD CAUSE

Utah Code Annotated § 77-29-1(4) reads: “In the event the charge is not brought to trial within 120 days, or within such continuance as has been granted, and defendant or his counsel moves to dismiss the action, the court shall review the proceeding. If the court finds that the failure of the prosecuting attorney to have the matter heard within the time required is not supported by good cause, whether a previous motion for continuance was made or not, the court shall order the matter dismissed with prejudice.”

In *State v. Hankerson*, 2005 UT 47, 122 P.3d 561, the Utah Supreme Court stated that in determining whether the State's failure to bring a case to trial within statute § 77-29-1, the Court will determine (1) when the “120-day period commenced and expired” and (2) if the trial was not held within the 120-day period whether there was good cause for delay. 2005 UT 47 at ¶ 6. Furthermore, the Court held that in determining whether there is good cause a “trial court must have sufficient evidence to support a finding that, but for the defendant's actions, the trial would have been brought within the required disposition period.” *Id.* at ¶ 12.

The State contends that “all of the delay in bringing the aggravated robbery charge to trial within 120 days of the Disposition Request is attributable to defendant. ‘But for’ defendant’s characterization of the nature of the offense as ‘theft/probation violation’ and his use of the case number from his 2002 theft conviction, the Utah County Attorney’s Office would have brought the aggravated robbery charge to trial within 120 days” (Appellant’s Br. at 16). And that accordingly, the trial court abused its discretion in dismissing the charge (*Id.*).

However, the State overlooks the statutory responsibility placed upon the prosecuting agency to have the matter brought to trial in a timely fashion. Rich's disposition request, as established in Point I, adequately specified the nature of the charge as required by statute. It was further delivered to the proper prison authority and specified the correct court and the correct county or prosecuting agency. Accordingly, it was the responsibility of the State to have the matter tried within the corresponding 120 days.

The State's argument also fails to address the trial court's reasoned determinations concerning whether the failure of the prosecuting agency to comply with the statute was supported by good cause:

.... The State is in the best position to determine what charges are pending against the defendant in Utah County. It is reasonable to assume that most individuals who receive criminal charges are not astute in the law and therefore cannot be expected to know all the differing types and degrees of thefts that one could possibly be charged with. A person could be charged with theft or shoplifting with differing degrees based upon value amount or prior convictions.... Or, as in this case, whether a conduct will be charged with a theft, robbery, or aggravated robbery based upon an injury or threat of injury to another person. Since a layperson is not expected to make these differentiations, it is the responsibility of the State to do more than merely check the file number provided by a defendant. The State was responsible to insure whether there were other theft related charges pending that carried a different file number.

Furthermore, Beth Allen, who is employed with the Utah County Attorney's office, testified that she had received the 120-day disposition request sent from the

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